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I. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

These cases are before me upon a petition for assessment of civil penalties and two
noticesof contestunder section 105(d) of the Federal MineSafetyand HealthAct of 1977, as
amended, ("the Mine Act"), 30U.S.C. § 815(d). Initially indispute were two violations issued
by the Secretary of Labor ("the Secretary") to mine operator M-Class Mining, LLC ("M-Class"):
Citation Number 7560565 and Order Number 7560566.



A hearing was held in Mount Vernon, Illinois, at which time the parties notified me that
they had agreed to settle Citation Number 7560565. I approved the settlement on the record. Tr.
6-8.' The parties presented testimony and documentary evidence onthe remaining violation,
Order Number 7560566, and later filed post-hearing briefs.

I have reviewed all of the evidence at length and have cited to the testimony, exhibits,
and arguments I found critical to my analysis and ruling herein without including a detailed
summary of the testimony givenby eachwitness. Based on the entire record and my
observations of the demeanor of the witnesses, I uphold OrderNumber 7560566 as written and
assess a penalty of $7,000.00 for theviolation alleged therein, for the reasons discussed below.

II. STIPULATIONS

The parties have entered into the following stipulations:

1. M-Class is an"operator" as defined in Section 3(d) of the Mine Act, 30U.S.C. § 802(d),
at the coal mine at which the citation and order at issue in these proceedingswere issued.

2. MC#1 Mine is operated by M-Class.
3. MC#1 Mine is subject to the jurisdiction of the Mine Act.
4. These proceedings are subject to the jurisdiction ofthe Federal Mine Safety and Health

Review Commission and its designated Administrative Law Judges pursuant to sections
105 and 113 of the Mine Act, 30 U.S.C. §§ 815, 823.

5. The individual whose signature appears in Block 22 of the citation and order at issue in
these proceedings was acting inhis official capacity and asanauthorized representative
of the Secretary of Laborwhenthe citation and orderwere issued.

6. Aduly authorized representative ofthe Secretary served the subject citation and order
and termination of the citation andorder upon the agent of M-Class at the dates andplace
stated therein as required by the Mine Act, and the citation and order and terminations
may be admitted into evidence to establish their issuance.

7. The total proposed penalties for the citation and order will not affect M-Class' ability to
continue in business.

8. The citation and order contained in Exhibit A attached to the Petition for Assessment of
Penalty for these dockets are authentic copies ofthe citation and order at issue in these
proceedings withall appropriate modifications and terminations, if any.

9. Exhibit S-8, the Assessed Violation History Report, is an accurate and authentic history
of M-Class' violation history.

10. The proposed penalty of $5,000.00 isappropriate ifOrder Number 7560566 is affirmed
in all aspects.

11. If the fact of the violation is affirmed, the inspector properly evaluated all aspects of
Section 10 of the order.

Joint Exhibit l;Tr. 8-9, 172-73.

1In thisdecision, the abbreviation "Tr." refers to the transcript of the hearing. The
Secretary's exhibits admitted at hearing are numbered S-2, S-3, S-6, S-7, and S-8. See Tr. 94-96,
119, 130, 172. M-Class did not offer any exhibits.



III. FACTUAL BACKGROUND

This proceeding arises out of a November 20, 2014 incident in which miner Todd Davis
was seriously injured while working at the MC #1 Mine, a large underground coal mine operated
by M-Class in Franklin County, Illinois. Tr. 15, 237. Davis, who is a field service representative
for equipment manufacturer Joy Global, was assigned as the life cycle manager for the mine's
longwall shearer at the time of the accident. Tr. 51-53. He was at the longwall face at
approximately 8:20 PM during the evening shift on November 20 when a hydraulic hose
delivering a water and synthetic oil emulsion to a longwall shield at a pressure of 4,200 pounds
per square inch (psi) ruptured and released a jet of fluid that struck Davis from below as he sat
on or leaned back against a longwall base lift support to let other miners pass by. Tr. 53, 103,
114;Ex. S-3 at 3. The high-pressure fluid sliced through his pants and shot into his body,
lacerating his rectum and causing immediate loss of bowel control and bleeding. Tr. 58, 63.
"[T]he first thing I remember is [maintenance worker] John Lencecomingup, asking if I was
okay," Davis testified. "I told him, no, I felt like I hadsome kind of- my insides were hanging
outside of my body is what I felt like. I needed to get out now." Tr. 53.

Lence helped Davis to a Kubota vehicle to transport him outof themine andcalled ahead
to the surface for an ambulance. Tr. 54-56, 68-69, 98, 115. Davis testified he was in shock and
frantic to get out of the mine. Tr. 55-56. Blood had pooled in his seat on the ride and was
running onto the floor by the time he and Lence reached the surface. Tr. 58, 115, 258. M-Class
management official Gabe Wheeler and mine manager Mike Lily met them there. Tr. 57, 116,
182. Davis' coworkers wrapped him in a blanket and tried to keep him calm until the ambulance
arrived to pick him up. Tr. 57-58, 70.

Davis was first taken to FranklinCountyHospital, which is a small local hospital in
Benton, Illinois. Tr. 15,20, 61, 78, 84. He wasjoined there by his wife, Laura; his immediate
and second-line supervisors from Joy Global; M-Class safety director Girolamo Intravaia; and
M-Class general manager Travis Brown, who furnished the doctors with a copy of the material
safety data sheet (MSDS)2 for the hydraulic emulsion that had been injected into Davis' body.
Tr. 66, 77-78, 183-86, 208, 210-12. Afterundergoing a CT scan, Daviswas airlifted in a Life
Flight helicopter to Barnes-Jewish Hospital in St. Louis, Missouri, where he was taken into
emergency surgery. Tr. 61-65, 79-81, 84-85, 245. He remained hospitalized for seven days and
returned for a numberof subsequent surgeries to treat his internal injuries, which included a
laceratedrectum, damaged colon, and burst bladder. Tr. 61, 66-67, 125,233, 245, 257.

M-Class did not notify MSHA of Davis' accident the day it occurred. However, the next
morning, the company's President of Underground Operations, Anthony Webb, placed a
"courtesy call" to a supervisor at the local MSHA field office to inform him of the accident. Tr.
27, 215, 245-47. The MSHA supervisor, Dean Cripps, believed further investigation maybe
warranted based on pastexperiences in which he had received inaccurate accident information
from M-Class. Tr. 29-30. Accordingly, after consulting with his district supervisor, Cripps

2An MSDS is an information sheet that describes the chemical composition of a material
and any human health risks it poses. Tr. 221-22.
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issued a section 103(j) order3 and initiated an accident investigation. Tr. 29-30; see Ex. S-2. He
first phoned a Joy Global representative, who informed him that Davis had undergone surgery
and was in a critical care unit at Barnes-Jewish Hospital with "some pretty serious injuries"; this
indicated to Cripps that the accident was more serious than he had initially been led to believe.
Tr. 30-31, 39, 152. He then traveled to the mine with MSHA Inspector Chad Lampley to
interviewwitnessesand inspect the accident scene. Tr. 31, 90-91, 102;250; see Ex. S-3. Cripps
and Lampley did not issue any violationswhile at the mine because they wanted to interview
Davis first. Tr. 126-27, 141. After giving him some time to recover from his injuries, Lampley
interviewed him by phone on January 27, 2015. Tr. 127, 130.

The nextday, January 28, 2015, Inspector Lampley issued the two enforcement actions
thatspurred this litigation. Tr. 130; see Ex. S-7. Citation Number 7560565 was issued under
section 104(a) of the MineAct and alleged that M-Class violated 30 C.F.R. § 75.1725(a) by
operating the #7 longwall shield with a frayed hydraulic hose thatultimately ruptured, injuring
Davis. M-Class has accepted this violation in settlement.4 The remaining enforcement action,
Order Number 7560566, was issued under section 104(d)(2) ofthe Mine Act5 and alleges that M-
Class violated 30 C.F.R. § 50.10(b) by failing to notify MSHA of the accident within 15 minutes
of the time mine management knew or should have known thatDavis hadsustained injuries
having a reasonable potential to cause death.

IV. LEGAL PRINCIPLES

3Aj-order is a type of enforcement action issued after an accident that usually directs the
mine operator to preserve the accident scene for investigative purposes and to cease work in the
affected area until MSHA determines that no further hazard exists. Tr. 89-90, 255-56; see 30

U.S.C. §813G).

4M-Class also accepted the Secretary's gravity and negligence designations and agreed
to paya reduced penalty. Theviolation is designated "significant and substantial" (S&S), with
the likelihood of injury marked "highly likely" andthe expected injury "fatal" and affecting one
person. The negligence is designated "moderate." The Secretary originally proposed a
"specially assessed" penalty of $52,500.00 for the violation, but agreed to accept a settlement
amountof $15,750.00 (which is slightly more than the amount that would have been proposed
under the Secretary's "regular assessment" formula) on grounds that there are no extenuating
circumstances to justify the special assessment otherthan the fact that a "Rules to Live By"
standard was violated. Tr. 6-8; see 30 C.F.R. Part 100. I have considered the representations
and documentation submitted by the parties with respect to CitationNumber 7560565,and I
conclude that the profferedsettlement is appropriate under the criteria set forth in section 110(i)
of the Mine Act.

5The issuance of an order under section 104(d)(2) denotes thatthealleged violation was
caused by the mine operator's "unwarrantable failure" to comply with a mandatoryhealth or
safety standard and that the operator previously received other unwarrantable failure violations
without an intervening clean inspection. See 30 U.S.C. § 814(d)(2); Lodestar Energy, Inc., IS
FMSHRC 343, 345 (July 2003).



A. Violation

A mine operator is strictly liable for Mine Act violations that occur at its mine. Spartan
Mining Co., 30 FMSHRC 699, 706 (Aug. 2008). The Secretary bears the burden ofproving any
alleged violation by a preponderance of the evidence. Inre: Contests ofRespirable Dust
Alteration Citations, 17 FMSHRC 1819, 1838 (Nov. 1995), aff'dsub nom. Sec'y ofLabor v.
Keystone Coal Mining Corp., 153 F.3d 1096 (D.C. Cir. 1998).

B. Gravity

Gravity is generally expressed as the degree of seriousness of a violation. Hubb Corp.,
22 FMSHRC 606, 609 (May 2000); Consolidation Coal Co., 18 FMSHRC 1541, 1549 (Sept.
1996). The Secretary assesses gravity in terms of the reasonable likelihoodof injury, the
severity of the expected injury, the numberof persons affected, and whetherthe violation is
S&S. The Commission has pointed out that the focus of the gravity inquiry "is not necessarily
on the reasonable likelihoodof serious injury, which is the focus of the S&S inquiry,but rather
on the effect of the hazard if it occurs." Consolidation Coal, 18 FMSHRC at 1550; see also
Harlan Cumberland Coal Co., 12 FMSHRC 134, 140-41 (Jan. 1990) (ALJ) (explaining that
some violations are serious notwithstanding the likelihood of injury, such as a violationof an
important safety standard, a violation demonstrating recidivism or defiance on the operator's
part, or a violation that could combine with other conditions to set the stage fordisaster).

C. Negligence and Unwarrantable Failure

Negligence is conduct that falls below the standard of care established under the Mine
Act. Under the Secretary's regulations, an operator is held to a high standard of care and is
required to be on thealert for conditions and practices that may cause injuries and to take
necessary precautions to prevent or correct them. 30C.F.R. § 10.0(d). The Secretary defines
high negligence as having occurred in connection with a violation when "[t]he operator knew or
should have known of the violative conditionor practice, and there were no mitigating
circumstances." Id. § 100.3, Table X. The Commission generally assesses negligence by
considering whatactions a reasonably prudent person familiar withthe mining industry, the
relevant facts, and the protective purpose of the cited regulation would have taken under the
circumstances. Leeco, Inc., 38 FMSHRC 1634, 1637 (July 2016); see also Brody Mining, LLC,
37 FMSHRC 1687, 1701-03 (Aug. 2015) (explaining that Commission ALJs"may evaluate
negligence from the starting point of a traditional negligence analysis" rather than adhering to the
Secretary'sPart 100definitions); accord Mach Mining, LLC v. Sec'yofLabor, 809F.3d 1259,
1263-64 (D.C. Cir. 2016).

More serious consequences can be imposed under the Mine Act for violations thatresult
from the operator's unwarrantable failure to comply withmandatory health or safety standards.
The unwarrantable failure terminology is taken from section 104(d)of the Mine Act, 30 U.S.C. §
814(d), and refers to more serious conductby an operator in connection with a violation. The
Commission has determined that unwarrantable failure is aggravated conduct constituting more
than ordinary negligence. Emery Mining Corp., 9 FMSHRC 1997, 2001-04 (Dec. 1987).
Unwarrantable failure is characterized by such conduct as "reckless disregard," "intentional
































